THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000797

RECEIVED
DEC 31 2019
SC Court of Appeals

James E. Carroll, Jr., Appellant,

v.

Isle of Palms Pest Control, Inc., SPM Management Company, Inc. and Terminix Service, Inc.,
..... Defendants,

Of which Isle of Palms Pest Control, Inc. and SPM Management Company, Inc. are Respondents.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Robert T. Lyles, Jr. (SC Bar # 10299)
Rose Beth G. Smith (SC Bar # 100623)
Lyles & Associates, LLC
301 Rutherford Street, Suite D
Greenville, SC 29609
843.577.7730
rtl@lylesfirm.com / rbgs@lylesfirm.com

-and

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in granting partial summary judgment as to Carroll's negligence claim where the court held that *Duc v. Orkin* and the economic loss rule are applicable to the claim?
- II. Did the circuit court err in granting partial summary judgment as to Carroll's negligence claim where the claim arises out of duties created by SCDPR regulations and industry standards, which are separate and distinct from any duties owed under the contract?
- III. Did the circuit court err in limiting the contractual remedy to \$250,000 where the terms of the contract show that the remedies amount to \$250,000.00 per year, for every year the contract was renewed?
- IV. Did the circuit court err in granting partial summary judgment as to Carroll's negligence claim where limiting Carroll's claims to a breach of contract cause of action nullifies the regulatory mandate that pest control applicators have insurance for the protection of homeowners where breach of contract is excluded from insurance coverage?
- V. Should the Court reject the findings and conclusions of the circuit court's Order Denying Reconsideration because they are false and pretextual?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the circuit court's order granting partial summary judgment in favor of Isle of Palms Pest Control, Inc. ("IOP") and SPM Pest Management Co., Inc. ("SPM") as to Jimmy Carroll's ("Carroll") negligence claim. The Honorable Roger M. Young signed the *Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Pursuant to Rule 56, SCRCF* ("Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment") on February 21, 2019, and it was filed on February 25, 2019.

Carroll filed this lawsuit on November 3, 2015, amended the complaint on November 20, 2015, and filed a Second Amended Complaint on July 27, 2016, alleging causes of action for Negligence and Breach of Contract/Warranty against IOP, SPM, and Terminix Services, Inc. ("Terminix"), which is no longer in the lawsuit and not a part of the appeal.

On February 4, 2019, on the eve of the two week “date certain” trial scheduled to begin on February 19, 2019 before Judge Young, SPM filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (“MPSJ”) “as to [Carroll’s] Negligence claim and limiting his damages award to \$250,000.” R. p. 0031. SPM argued that Carroll’s negligence claim “is barred by the economic loss rule.” R. p. 0035. SPM further argued that “Plaintiff failed to allege, and SPM does not owe, Plaintiff any legal duties separate and distinct of those set forth in the Termite Bond.” R. p. 0039.

On February 18, 2019, Carroll emailed a copy of his Memorandum in Opposition to SPM Pest Management Company Inc.’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (“Memo in Opposition”) to Judge Young’s law clerk, Lyndsay Luthringer, for the trial court’s review prior to the motion hearing. R. p. 1018.

The trial court heard SPM’s MPSJ on February 20, 2019, after settlement negotiations between the parties came to an impasse. IOP joined in the MPSJ during the hearing, R. p. 1044, lines 15–18, and filed a handwritten motion thereafter. After hearing oral argument of counsel for SPM and Carroll, the trial court held as follows:

- “Based on the record that I have before me, which is the exhibits, what’s in the file, and the exhibits that were filed in support of and in opposition to these motions, based on the record, I don’t find anything that was a negligent act that did not arise out of the contract that existed between the parties, and the law in this state, and it’s well-settled law, is that where there’s a contract, you cannot sue for tort for the same actions that arise out of, basically, a breach of contract.” R. p. 1052, lines 8–17.
- “Your remedy is a breach of contract. You have to have an independent factual basis for any duties that arise to support a negligence action, and all of the acts that I have before me and I have heard all arise out of the performance or lack thereof by the defendants in

performance or nonperformance of the contract that existed between them.” R. p. 1052, lines 18–24.

- “So the case of *Dixon vs. Texas*, 222 S.C. 385, that’s a 1952 case, that sets out the general rule. The case of *Duc vs. Orkin Exterminating Company*, a 1990 case out of the federal district court in South Carolina, 729 F. Supp. 1533 is a case that factually seems to be four squared in that there was a termite contract between the parties and there was causes of action for the breach of that contract as well as negligence, and the Court held that the exterminator did not have any duty that flowed to the homeowner that was separate and apart from the contract that supported a negligence cause of action.” R. p. 1052, line 25–p. 1053, line 10.
- “All of the acts, again, that I have before me that are in the record appear to flow, again, out of the performance or nonperformance of the contract, so the plaintiff is limited to their contractual remedies and not without a remedy at all, they’re just not allowed to sue for negligence where there is a contract. Economic loss rule also would support that proposition.” R. p. 1053, lines 11–17.
- “So I’m going to grant the motion for partial summary judgment, ask that Mr. Ethridge and Mr. Kernodle get together and prepare an order for that. I understand that plaintiff wishes to appeal this order immediately, which would postpone this trial that we have going on, does not wish to go forward at this time only on the contract cause of action, and the Court would grant his motion for an intermediate appeal.” R. p. 1053, lines 18–25.

Judge Young then signed, on February 21, 2019, the formal Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment prepared by counsel for SPM and IOP.

Operative portions of the Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment are as follows:

- “It is well-settled under South Carolina law that to pursue a tort claim and a breach of contract claim concerning the same conduct, a plaintiff must allege a duty owed him by the defendant separate and distinct from any duty owed under the contract. *Duc v. Orkin Exterminating Co., Inc.*, 729 F. Supp. 1553 (D.S.C. 1990); *Dixson v. Texas*, 72 S.E.2d 897 (S.C. 1952). Where there is no duty except as the contract creates, the plaintiff’s remedy is for breach of contract. *Investors Premium Corp. v. Burroughs Corp.*, 389 F. Supp. 39 (D.S.C. 1974).” R. p. 0002.
- “After reviewing the record including Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint, the Motions and Memorandum of Law filed in support therewith, and the arguments of counsel, the Court find that Plaintiff’s claims arise out of, relate to, and are therefore limited to the duties set forth in the Termite Contract.” R. p. 0002.
- “Accordingly, the Court finds that the Plaintiff’s Negligence claim must be dismissed as a matter of law because it is barred by the economic loss rule.” R. pp. 0002–0003.
- “Therefore, Defendants’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment is **GRANTED**.” R. p. 0003.

Notably, the Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment did not mention that the trial court reviewed the Memo in Opposition. Also, it did not specifically limit the contractual remedy to \$250,000, even though that was a ground for the MPSJ. The order made no mention of a monetary ceiling for damages under the contract.

On February 22, 2019, Carroll filed the Memo in Opposition with the clerk of court’s office, even though Carroll emailed it to the Judge’s law clerk prior to the hearing. The Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment was file-stamped on February 25, 2019. Carroll then filed a Motion for Reconsideration or to Alter or Amend Judgment (“Motion for Reconsideration”) on March 1, 2019. On March 29, 2019, SPM filed a Response in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to

Alter or Amend (“Response”), and IOP joined in SPM’s Response on April 1, 2019. On April 18, 2019, Judge Young signed an Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion for Reconsideration (“Order Denying Reconsideration”), prepared by counsel for SPM and IOP, which was filed on April 23, 2019. Carroll then filed a Notice of Appeal on May 10, 2019.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Carroll purchased his Isle of Palms home at 11 Tabby Lane (the “Property”) in late 2002. In February 2003, IOP, owned by Vince Sottile (“Mr. Sottile”), entered into an Exterra Bait Station Agreement with Carroll. R. pp. 0145–0147. The Bait Station Agreement contained “waiver” language, explaining to Carroll that the services of the Bait Station Agreement *specifically did not include the application of chemical termiticide* on the Property. R. p. 0149. IOP and Carroll renewed the Bait Station Agreement annually in February of every year from 2004 through 2010 for \$250.00, which involved a yearly inspection of the Property. However, no evidence that Mr. Sottile did anything on the Property in 2006 exists. R. pp. 0151–0166.

In 2011, IOP merged its assets into SPM Pest Management Company, Inc. (“SPM”), which was a new company created by Mr. Sottile, the same owner/principal. IOP was dissolved. The organizational structure as to employee(s) and ownership/management remained the same. R. pp. 0168–0169.

In May 2013, Terminix purchased SPM by way of a Purchase Agreement. R. pp. 0171–0176. That agreement contained indemnification language, shifting liability back to SPM for any termites or termite damages related to acts or omissions by SPM, which were discovered by Terminix after the sale of the business.

Terminix discovered substantial live termites and termite damage at the Property on January 22, 2014. Terminix treated the Property with termiticide several months later, following unsuccessful attempts to have Mr. Sottile take responsibility per the terms of the Purchase Agreement between SPM and Terminix. The Terminix treatments were in compliance with applicable pesticide regulations, according to Cecil Hernandez of the South Carolina Department of Pesticide Regulation (“SCDPR”), which is operated through Clemson University. R. p. 0184, lines 12:25–13:5.

Mr. Sottile has testified that without notifying Carroll, he decided to stop monitoring and protecting the Property with the Exterra Bait Stations and instead, on or about 2008, applied Termidor termiticide in the ground around the home on the Property, which is a chemical termite barrier comprising an entirely different technology for preventing termite intrusion into the Property. Some of that testimony is as follows:

Q: Were you ever doing a combination of termiticide and baiting?

A: “Yes.”

Q: “Do you know—”

A: “But the record doesn’t reflect that. I’ve already looked over all this. The record doesn’t reflect it. And the reason I did it, when I did the baiting system...to me, you know, be comfortable with it, I did it a little different...called Termidor.”

R. p. 0212, lines 23:9–24:4; R. p. 0228, lines 56:16–18.

Mr. Sottile testified that he personally continued to conduct yearly inspections of the Property from January of 2008 to January of 2013, just prior to selling SPM to Terminix. However, no evidence that he visited the property in 2012 exists, although Carroll paid for the renewal amount. Mr. Sottile testified that there was never a lapse in coverage under the Exterra Bait Station Agreement for the Property from 2003 up to his last inspection prior to the sale of

SPM in 2013, and, that at the time of sale, all Exterra Bond Bait Contracts had in fact lapsed. R. p. 0216, lines 31:1–10.

Mr. Sottile also testified that while there *should have been* a new contract for the Property specifying treatment with termiticide in lieu of the Exterra Bait Station Agreement, no such contract was offered to Carroll and no termite bond specific to the use of termiticide treatment in lieu of and after abandonment of the bait station monitoring in 2008 was ever offered. R. p. 0215, lines 30:18–25.

Regulations promulgated by the SCDPR (27-1085 *Standards for the Prevention or Control of Wood-destroying organisms*) require that “[e]very person performing either preventative measures against or control measures for termites and other wood destroying organisms (both insects and fungi) on the property of another must follow at a minimum the methods and procedures specified in the following codified paragraphs of this regulation.” SCDPR 27-1085(A).

SCDPR 27-1085(B)(2) makes a breach of the contract a dual regulatory violation, wherein it states as follows: “Treatment and inspection must be performed in accordance with these regulations and with the terms of the written agreement or contract for as long as the contract is valid.” (emphasis added). Thus, by definition, a breach of the contract is a breach of the regulations.

The Regulations require that a termite prevention company/applicator maintain records for two (2) years, or for the duration of the contract, whichever is longer. SCDPR 27-1083(C)(3)(b). Furthermore, the Regulations require that all chemicals used on a property must be used according to the label instructions, 27-1085(D), and documented with a special Termiticide Disclosure Form specified by the SCDPR, 27-1085(D)(6).

In the present case, not only did Mr. Sottile never tell Carroll about the use of Termidor, but the only documents Terminix received were annual reinspection invoices and reports for the years 2004, 2005, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011, and 2013, which did not show the use of Termidor, and no additional documents surfaced from IOP or SPM during the litigation. R. pp. 0151–0166.

As previously noted, Mr. Sottile did not notify Carroll that he used any chemicals on the Property. R. pp. 0213–0214, lines 26:14–27:2. Carroll testified that he was aware that the company had changed names but was never told that the bait stations were discontinued or that Termidor was applied to the Property in 2008, as alleged by Mr. Sottile in his prior testimony. R. pp. 0227–0228, lines 55:12–56:4. Yet, Mr. Sottile continued to accept renewal premiums on behalf of IOP and SPM from 2004 through 2013. R. pp. 0151–0166.

Further, at trial, experts will testify that Mr. Sottile violated regulations in the manner in which the bait stations were monitored, the way in which the Termidor was applied, and the failure of IOP and SPM to create and maintain records. Expert Entomologist Cecil Hernandez has testified that Mr. Sottile’s method of application for the Property would not be a termiticide treatment in compliance with industry standards. R. p. 0194, lines 32:21–33:1. Further, see the plethora of references to regulatory violations by James Wright, Regulatory/entomology expert, and Maxcy Nolan, III, Ph.D., entomology expert (Excerpts set forth in section I.(d) below; and see R. pp. 0252–0569 and R. pp. 0571–0821).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, [the appellate court] appl[ies] the same standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), S.C.R.C.P.: summary judgment is proper when ‘there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and ... the moving party is entitled

to judgment as a matter of law.” *Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 114–15, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991). “Under Rule 56(c), the party seeking summary judgment has the initial responsibility of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.” *Id.* at 115, 410 S.E.2d at 545 (citing *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986)). “With respect to an issue upon which the nonmoving party bears the burden of proof, this initial responsibility ‘may be discharged by ‘showing’—that is, pointing out to the [trial] court—that there is an absence of evidence to support the nonmoving party’s case.” *Id.* (quoting *Celotex*, 477 U.S. at 325, 106 S.Ct. at 2554, 91 L.Ed.2d at 275). “The moving party need not ‘support its motion with affidavits or other similar materials *negating* the opponent’s claim.” *Id.* (quoting *Celotex* at 323, 106 S.Ct. at 2553, 91 L.Ed.2d at 274) (emphasis in original).

“Once moving party carries its initial burden, opposing party must, under Rule 56(e), ‘do more than simply show that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts’ but ‘must come forward with ‘specific facts showing that there is a *genuine issue for trial*.’” *Id.* (quoting *Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp.*, 475 U.S. 574, 586–87, 106 S.Ct. 1348, 1356, 89 L.Ed.2d 538, 552 (1986)) (emphasis in original). “Indeed, Rule 56(e) specifically prohibits the nonmoving party from resting upon the mere allegations or denials of its pleadings.” *Id.* “In determining whether summary judgment is appropriate, the evidence and its reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Id.*

The court then applies the standard set out in Rule 56(c): [T]he plain language of Rule 56(c) mandates the entry of summary judgment, after adequate time for discovery and upon motion, against a party who fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to the party’s case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial. In such a situation, there can be ‘no genuine issue as to any material fact,’ since a complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the nonmoving party’s case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial. The moving party is ‘entitled to a judgment as a matter of law’ because the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of her case with respect to which she has the burden of proof.

Id. at 115–16, 410 S.E.2d 537 at 545–46 (quoting *Celotex* 477 U.S. at 322–23, 106 S.Ct. at 2552, 91 L.Ed.2d at 273). “Since it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment ‘should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues.’” *Id.* at 112, 410 S.E.2d at 543 (quoting *Watson v. Southern Ry. Co.*, 420 F.Supp. 483, 486 (D.S.C.1975); *see also Holloman v. McAllister*, 289 S.C. 183, 186, 345 S.E.2d 728, 729 (1986) (“an extreme remedy to be cautiously invoked”)).

ARGUMENT

- I. This Court should reverse the circuit court judge’s Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment because that court based its ruling on inapposite case law, including misapplication of the economic loss rule; Carroll’s claims for negligence unequivocally arise out of duties created by SCDPR regulations; SPM and IOP owed those duties separately and distinctly from any duties they owed under the contract; and contractual remedies alone are not capped at \$250,000 total per the contract.**

Succinctly, the great issue on appeal is thus: Judge Young has ruled that if a party to a service contract violates duties created by common law, statutes, regulations, or industry standards, an injured parties’ claims in tort are barred by the economic loss rule. That is not the law in South Carolina and would be against public policy if it were. The examples of how that ruling is wrong are infinite: What if the employee setting the bait stations negligently threw a burning cigarette butt into the bushes and burned down Carroll’s house? What if that employee ran over a child or damaged a boat sitting in the yard as he was coming or going to set a bait station? What if the employee stole valuable items while he was setting the bait stations? What if a pest control person left termiticide open and a child consumed it and died? What if a contractor performing work on

a home creates a hazardous condition that results in personal injury? Judge Young's ruling would mean that any of these injuries could be satisfied with contractual remedies only.

During the course of SPM and IOP's performance of the contract, SPM and IOP owed and violated duties created by regulations and industry standards. Under South Carolina law, Carroll has a claim in tort in addition to his claim in contract for SPM and IOP's violations of those duties created by regulations and industry standards. Judge Young holds otherwise, and this Court must reverse his ruling. As a matter of law, Judge Young stopped his analysis with the contract, then misapplied the economic loss rule, and ignored the evidence of breaches of duty beyond the face of the contract.

The circuit court's ruling is simply incorrect that the Second Amended Complaint does not allege violations of duties outside of the contract. The Second Amended Complaint alleges that SPM and IOP were negligent, grossly negligent, willful, and wonton "[i]n failing to comply with the laws and regulations promulgated by the State of South Carolina, pertaining to inspection for and treatment of termites." R. p. 0021, ¶17(f). The circuit court's analysis and use of evidence is improper in its ruling, as further explained.

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