**RECEIVED**

**Oct 12 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**The South Carolina Court of Appeals**

Claudine Garver, Both Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Jeremy Garver, Appellant,

v.

McLeod Loris Seacoast Hospital; McLeod Physician Associates, II; and Michael McCaffrey, M.D., Defendants,

Of which McLeod Loris Seacoast Hospital is the Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2023-000577

The Honorable William H. Seals, Jr.  
Horry County

Trial Court Case No. 2019CP2605302

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLEE

---

**BUYCK LAW FIRM, LLC**

Hugh W. Buyck, S.C. Bar # 66462

Jeffrey H. Lappin, S.C. Bar# 105073

305 Wingo Way

P.O. Box 2424

Mt. Pleasant, SC 29465-2424

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

But Garver offers only speculation as to what the Hospital’s referral process entailed, and she speculates further that this process caused her damages. (Final Brief of Appellant, p. 11). In support, she offers *Clark v. Ross*, 284 S.C. 543, 328 S.E.2d 91 (Ct. App. 1985). (*Id.*) But our Supreme Court abrogated that decision, and it is no longer valid authority. *Sherer v. James*, 290 S.C. 404, 408, 351 S.E.2d 148, 150 (1986).

Garver acknowledges that differentiating between medical malpractice and negligence claims “depends heavily on the facts of each individual case (Final Brief of Appellant, p. 10), and she attributes this principal to a Tennessee decision, *Estate of French v. Stratford House*, 333 S.W.3d 546, 555 (Tenn. 2011), which, being out of state, would have no weight here, but for the fact that it was cited in our Supreme Court’s analysis in the *Dawkins* decision. *Dawkins v. Union Hosp. Dist.*, 408 S.C. at 178, 758 S.E.2d at 504. However, it must be noted that *Estate of French* was abrogated by a Tennessee statute subjecting every claim against a health care provider to the strictures of medical malpractice claims, and this abrogation was recognized by the Tennessee

Supreme Court:

Under *Estate of French*, Tennessee courts had to distinguish between claims involving ordinary negligence and claims involving medical malpractice. But the Civil Justice Act statutorily abrogated *Estate of French*'s nuanced approach for distinguishing ordinary negligence and health care liability claims. In doing so, the Legislature expressed a clear legislative intent to broaden the scope of the Act to include every lawsuit against a health care provider that alleged an injury related to the provision of health care without regard to the theory of liability.

*Cooper v. Mandy*, 639 S.W.3d 29, 34 (Tenn. 2022) (citations and quotation marks omitted). Thus, *Estate of French* is also no longer valid legal authority.

Garver argues that it was Dr. Andrews' "instructions" or "orders" for an MRI referral that "triggered" the Hospital's referral process, which, she contends, was "simply paperwork" involving no medical judgment by the Hospital. (Final Brief of Appellant, pp. 11-12). But, as shown in the Statement of Facts, above, Garver did not allege facts, showing that any "nonmedical, administrative, ministerial, or routine care" was provided by the Hospital, per *Dawkins v. Union Hosp. Dist.*, 408 S.C. at 177-78, 758 S.E.2d at 504. She presents: (1) no evidence that Dr. Andrews or MUSC made any such instructions or orders; (2) no evidence of what the Hospital's referral process actually entailed; and (3) no evidence that the Hospital's patient referral process was within the common knowledge of the jury. (Final Brief of Appellant, *passim*).

Garver offers Mrs. Garver's speculation that Dr. McCaffrey should have been involved in the referral process; and that somehow the Hospital knew Dr. McCaffrey had "missed it" (referring to the aneurism). (R. pp. 383-4; Garver Exhibit 4, Garver Dep. pp. 117, lines 9 - 118, line 25). (Final Brief of Appellant, p. 15). But this speculative testimony is not probative of any of the three points in the preceding paragraph, and it does not create an issue of fact to survive summary judgment. A party may not create a genuine issue of material fact through speculation or guesswork." *In re Eleanor McCarthy Lenahan Tr. under agreement Dated July 12, 2001*, 428 S.C.

598, 605, 836 S.E.2d 793, 797 (Ct. App. 2019) (citing *Nelson v. Piggly Wiggly Cent., Inc.*, 390 S.C. 382, 390, 701 S.E.2d 776, 780 (Ct. App. 2010) (holding one may not create a genuine issue of material fact by speculation or an “inferential leap”)).

The facts in this case, appearing from the pleadings and evidence presented to the trial court, demonstrate that Dr. Larson’s decision to recommend that Mr. and Mrs. Garver obtain a referral for a brain MRI was inextricably intertwined with the medical care Mr. Garver received at the Hospital on October 23, 2017. That medical care cannot be separated from the Hospital’s and Dr. Larson’s professional standard(s) of care. *See, e.g., Delaney v. United States*, 260 F. Supp. 3d 505, 509 (D.S.C. 2017) (“[T]he complaint makes clear that Delaney is alleging that the medical providers at the US Naval Hospital had specific duties that were inseparably intertwined with their role as medical professionals—not as laymen.”).

In fuller context, the pleadings, and evidence presented at summary judgment show that Dr. McCaffrey treated Mr. Garver for worsening migraine headaches for nearly two years before Mr. Garver presented to the Hospital on October 23, 2017; but Dr. McCaffrey, who was employed by Associates, and not by the Hospital<sup>10</sup>, did not discover Mr. Garver’s aneurism. (*See*, R. pp. 22-3; Compl., pp. 4-5, ¶¶ 20-26); (R. p. 273-4; Exhibit 6, Affidavit of William Barnes); (R. p. 277; Exhibit 7, McCaffrey Am, Answer, p. 2, ¶ 4); (R. p. 289; Exhibit 8, Hosp. Answer, p. 2, ¶ 5).

Plaintiff’s sole medical expert, Neurologist, Dr. Ward, whose affidavit accompanied the NOI (R. p. 120-2; Garver Exhibit A to January 15, 2019 NOI), testified in deposition that Dr. McCaffrey first saw Mr. Garver on December 29, 2015, and that Mr. Garver had been having headaches for five or six years before that date. (R. p. 196; Exhibit 5, Ward Dep. p. 39, lines 13-

---

<sup>10</sup> As discussed in the Statement of Facts, above, Garver repeatedly asserts, without evidence, that Dr. McCaffrey, his staff, and his neurology office (Associates,) were employed by or associated with the Hospital, so as to implicate the Hospital in actions of Dr. McCaffrey and his staff, relative to the referral. (Final Brief of Appellant, pp. pp. 4, 7, 15).

15). Dr. McCaffrey's medical records also reflect this medical history. (R. p. 128; Exhibit 1, p. 1). Then, over the course of several visits with Dr. McCaffrey, Mr. Garver's headaches became more frequent "which by definition is a change in headache pattern, which is a red flag, and I believe he should have had [MRI] imaging at that point, as the headaches were worsening despite preventive treatment, and he was not imaged." (R. p. 190; Exhibit 5, Ward Dep. p. 33 lines 4-10). This "red flag" occurred on May 31, 2016, at which point Dr. Ward opined that Dr. McCaffrey should have ordered an MRI of the brain (R. p. 197; *Id.*, p. 40, lines 5-13 and 22-25); and he opined that an MRI at that point would have revealed "a giant basilar artery aneurysm." (R. p. 198; *Id.* p. 41, lines 4-5). The Court may take judicial notice of the fact that this red flag date, May 31, 2016 was more than a year before Mr. Garver presented to the Hospital ED on October 23, 2017. SCRE 201(b) and (c).

Garver's evidence shows that Mr. Garver presented to the Hospital at 7:14 p.m. or 19:14 hours (R. p. 302; Garver Exhibit 1, pp. 2) and that the Hospital (Dr. Larson) discharged Mr. Garver that same night when the discharge instructions were printed for the patient at 21:55 hours (9:55 p.m.). (*Id.*). The discharge instructions direct Mr. Garver to follow up with the Neurology Department the following morning for an MRI, and to consider further follow-up with MUSC. (*Id.*).

Garver's evidence also shows that Associates completed the referral a few hours later: Mrs. Garver testified that she called Associates and obtained the referral for MRI on the morning of October 24, 2017. (R. p. 310; Garver Exhibit. 3, Garver Dep. p. 59, lines 16-25). Garver's brief refers to the referral process as "drawn out" and describes it as having been "eventually" completed. (Final Brief of Appellant, pp. 15, 16). But this mischaracterizes the evidence in an attempt to support her conclusory arguments that there was a negligent "delay" in the referral, and

that this delay caused Garver's damages. (*Id.* pp. 11, 13, 15, 17). Garver presents no evidence that completion of the referral the morning after Mr. Garver's visit to the ED constitutes delay by the Hospital or Dr. Larson.

Instead, Garver makes the *inferential leap* that the Hospital's "faulty" referral process caused a delay in obtaining diagnostic care and surgery at MUSC, and that Mr. Garver suffered a ruptured aneurism and death as a result of this delayed care at MUSC.

[The] faulty referral process caused unnecessary delay which pushed Mr. Garver's consultation and procedure with MUSC back by several weeks before Mr. Garver, expectedly, died as a result of a ruptured aneurysm.

(Final Brief of Appellant, p. 17).

But the referral itself was completed on the morning of October 24, 2017, within hours of Mr. Garver's discharge. (R. p. 310; Garver Exhibit 3, Garver Dep. p. 59, lines 16-25). Dr. Ward testified in reference to the MRI which was performed on October 26, 2017. (R. p. 213; Hosp. Exhibit 5, Ward Dep. p. 56, lines 8-15). This date is consistent with Mrs. Garver's testimony that she called Associates on October 24, 2017, and that they scheduled the MRI for that Thursday. (R. p. 310; Garver Exhibit 3, Garver Dep. p. 59, lines 16-25). The Court may take judicial notice of the 2017 calendar and that October 26, 2017 was the Thursday following Mr. Garver's October 23, 2017 Hospital visit. Rules 201(b) and (c) SCRE.

Dr. Ward also testified that a consultation with MUSC's Dr. Vandergrift occurred on October 30, 2017. (R. p. 199; Hosp. Exhibit 5, Ward Dep. p. 41, lines 14-17). This date is consistent with the complaint's allegation that the aneurism was discovered on October 30, 2017. (R. p. 25; Compl. p. 5, ¶ 30). But Garver presents no evidence that the Hospital played any role in scheduling or performing the MRI on October 26, 2017, or in scheduling the October 30, 2017 consultation at MUSC.

Garver speculates, citing only to counsel's comments to the trial court:

On October 31, 2017, eight (8) days after **MUSC instructions** that a MRI referral was necessary, Mr. Garver finally met with a neurosurgeon at MUSC. MUSC's neurosurgeon then coordinated an expedited visit with his neuro-endovascular colleagues to discuss appropriate management. Transcript of Proceedings p. 9; lines 22-25 (R. p. 111).

Mr. Garver was scheduled to return to MUSC for a procedure to address the large brain mass. **Unfortunately, Mr. Garver never made it to that appointment.** Instead, Mr. Garver was **readmitted to Respondent's facility on November 3, 2017**, unresponsive, eleven (11) days after MUSC instructions that a MRI referral was necessary. (R. p. 390, Exhibit 6 Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider p. 1).

(Final Brief of Appellant, pp. 15-16) (emphasis added). The reference to October 31 is likely a typographical error, to which we all fall prey. But the other factual errors, emphasized in the quote above, must be addressed.

As shown in the Statement of Facts and Arguments above, Garver presents no evidence that MUSC (Dr. Andrews) "instructed" or "ordered" or had authority to instruct or order the Hospital or Dr. Larson in any way. All evidence shows that Dr. Larson acted on the basis of his own medical professional judgment as the Hospital attending physician. *See*, (R. pp. 132-147; Hosp. Exhibit 2, Bates # 0150-0165); (R. pp. 302-6, Garver Exhibit 1, *Hosp. Discharge Records*, Bates # 0035-0039).

In the argument emphasized above, Garver asserts that Mr. Garver was readmitted to the Hospital on November 3, 2017. But she presents no evidence of this readmission. Evidence presented to the trial court shows that Mr. Garver was admitted to Grand Strand Regional Medical Center on the morning of November 4, 2017 where he was pronounced dead. (R. p. 149, McCaffrey/Associates Exhibit 3, *Grand Strand "Brain Summary Note"*).

And, in the above emphasized argument, Garver asserts that Mr. Garver never made it to MUSC for a procedure scheduled for November 8, 2017. But this is also deceptively incomplete, and it is contradicted by her own related lawsuit against MUSC. In *Garver v. MUSC*, Charleston

County Court of Common Pleas, 2019-NI-10-00084, Garver's NOI, affidavit, and complaint assert that Mr. Garver underwent an invasive procedure at MUSC on November 1, 2017, which was immediately followed by symptoms of aneurism worsening or rupture, and that MUSC's failure to treat these symptoms caused Mr. Garver's injuries and death:

[O]n November 1, 2017, Jeremy Garver was discharged from [MUSC], but immediately returned to Defendant's ER with complaints of nausea and/or severe headache/pain...

(R. p. 93, Garver v. MUSC, Am. NOI, p. 2).

Garver's expert medical witness affidavit of Brian Holmes, M.D., attached thereto, swears:

On November 1, 2017, Mr. Garver, accompanied by his wife Claudine Garver, appeared at the MUSC for an angiogram scheduled for 10 a.m. that day. ... It is my opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the care and treatment rendered by MUSC, fell below the accepted standard of care for similar medical providers for the following reasons: Mr. Garver had undergone a catheter cerebral angiogram, which is an invasive diagnostic procedure. ... The cerebral angiogram identified an unruptured cerebral aneurysm ... The staff of MUSC fell below the accepted standard of care when they did not respond to Mr. and Mrs. Garver's report of neurological symptoms by arranging a medical evaluation. Instead, MUSC staff assumed that Mr. Garver's symptoms were of no importance and he was sent home after a sip of Ginger Ale and some crackers. ... It is my opinion that these violations of the standard of care proximately caused Jeremy Garver's injuries.

(R. pp. 397-398; Garver v. MUSC, NOI Exhibit A, *Holmes Affidavit*, pp. 2-3).

The complaint filed against MUSC likewise asserts as fact that Mr. Garver was treated by MUSC on November 1, 2017, was discharged thereafter, and immediately returned with complaints of neurological symptoms consistent with aneurysm expansion and/or rupture; but MUSC refused to readmit him or treat him; and, as a result of MUSC negligent actions, he suffered a catastrophic subarachnoid hemorrhage and/or ruptured cerebral aneurysm on November 3, 2017 and was pronounced dead on November 4, 2017. (R. p. 94-96; Garver v. MUSC Compl, pp. 3-5).

The Court may take judicial notice of these factual statements made in pleadings filed in Garver's related law suit. Rules 201(b) and (c) SCRC. While these materials were not presented to the trial court, the Hospital's counsel did inform the court of the existence of the law suit at

summary judgment the hearing. (R. p. 113; Tr. p. 11, line 7). At minimum, these documents show that Garver's statements of fact as to alleged delay in scheduling MUSC's examination and procedures are incomplete, misleading and false. MUSC performed its procedure on Mr. Garver on November 1, 2017 after which he showed symptoms of aneurism rupture. There can be no reasonable inference that, but for the alleged "delay" in the Hospital's "paperwork" referral process, MUSC's care would have prevented Garver's aneurism from rupturing, and would have given him a chance of survival beyond November 4, 2017.

But, even if the Court declines to take judicial notice of the pleadings in *Garver v. MUSC*, Garver's claim against the Hospital is inextricably intertwined with the medical care the Hospital provided on October 23, 2017. The claim is of negligent medical care, outside the common knowledge of the jury, and, therefore, it sounds in professional negligence and not in ordinary negligence.

Nowhere does Garver present evidence or valid legal authority supporting a reasonable inference that the Hospital's (Dr. Larson's) treatment and recommendations on discharge of Mr. Garver are within the realm of common knowledge. (Final Brief of Appellant, pp. 10-17). Garver's arguments should, thus, be disregarded as abandoned on appeal. *See, First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994) ("Appellant fails to provide arguments or supporting authority for his assertion. Thus, he is deemed to have abandoned this issue."); *Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001) ("South Carolina law clearly states that short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review.").

Thus, it is beyond dispute that that the common knowledge exception does not apply to Garver's eight causes of action against the hospital, and summary judgment was properly granted

for failure to present medical expert evidence of the Hospital's professional standard of care and any deviations from it.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE HOSPITAL BECAUSE PLAINTIFF PRESENTED NO EVIDENCE OF THE HOSPITAL'S STANDARD OF ORDINARY CARE IN THE CONTEXT OF AN ADMINISTRATIVE NEGLIGENCE CLAIM, NOR ANY DEVIATION FROM IT.**

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